1967

Margaret Mcallister v. Lamar Bybee, Carvel
Mattsson, Administrator of the Estate of O'Dell
Watson, Deceased, California Pacific Utilities
Company, a Corporation, and Kanab City, Utah :
Brief of Appellant

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action brought by the plaintiff-appellant for damages for injuries received by the plaintiff-appellant and the damages resulting therefrom, on the 16th day of September, 1963, at approximately 9:15 in the morning, when the plaintiff-appellant tripped over obstructions in what is sometimes called the parking area, between the curb and the sidewalk proper, in Kanab, Kane County, Utah. The defendant, Kanab City, Utah, a Municipal Corporation, was the municipality involved; the defendants LaMar Bybee and Carvel Mattsson, as Administrator of the estate of Odell Watson, deceased were the owners of the property in front of which said obstructions were located, and California-Pacific Utilities Company, a Corporation, the other defendant, was a tenant of the same property, and was an exclusive tenant.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried before a jury in Kanab, Kane County, Utah, commencing 4 May, 1966, and running until the 5th day of May, 1966. At the conclusion of the plaintiff's case, and in response to motions by each of the defendants for dismissal for failure to prove a prima-facie cause of action, these motions were verbally granted, under provisions of Rule 41-B, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, upon the ground that on the facts presented by the plaintiff and the law applicable thereto, plaintiff had shown no right to relief as against any of the defendants. A written judgment of dismissal, dated the 10th day of May, 1966, was entered by the Clerk of the Court on the 16th day of May, 1966. A motion for a new trial was filed, and argued on the 2nd day of August, 1966. Although no written order was entered on that date, the Honorable Ferdinand Erickson, District Judge, announced that he was overruling and denying the motion for a new trial. Thereafter, this matter has come to an appeal on the appeal of the plaintiff and appellant.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The plaintiff-appellant seeks a reversal of the judgment of dismissal and of the order overruling and denying the motion for a new trial, and desires that the Supreme Court order the matter to be remanded and tried before a jury.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff and appellant believes that the facts are as follows: That prior to the 16th day of September, 1963, the plaintiff-appellant was steadily employed as a cook in the Trail's End Cafe, in Kanab, Kane County, Utah, and was making \$12.00 a day. That on the 16th day of September, 1963, at approximately 9:15 in the morning, the plaintiff, accompanied by a daughter, a grandchild, and a son, in a vehicle driven by the son, went to the Kanab Branch of the First State Bank of Salina. That this bank is housed in a building adjacent to the property in question, being east of the property in question. That there was an alley between the building in which California-Pacific Utilities Company was housed, being the property in question, and the Kanab Branch of the First State Bank of Salina, and this prop-

ty was owned by the defendants LaMar Bybee and Carvel Mattsson, the Administrator of the Estate of Odell Watson, deceased, which gave the exclusive possession of the property owned by the defendants LaMar Bybee and Carvel Mattsson, Administrator of the Estate of Odell Watson, deceased, to California-Pacific Utilities Company, and placed on California-Pacific Utilities Company a duty of care and maintenance of the area on which said building was located. In approaching the bank, the son of the plaintiff drove down the street going from East to West, the bank being located on the north side of the street, and parked the vehicle in which the plaintiff and her companions were riding directly in front of the California-Pacific Utilities Company offices which are in the building on the property in question and in Kanab, Utah. The son of the plaintiff parked the vehicle parallel, and within an inch or two of the curb. The plaintiff, in approaching this area, was riding in the right front seat of the vehicle. Her son was driving. Her daughter and the grandchild were in the rear seat. The vehicle was a station wagon. LaMar Bybee and Odell Watson, now deceased, had purchased this property several years prior thereto, in approximately 1957, and at the time of their purchase, there was a canopy extending over the sidewalk to the curb, that had been used to house a service station. The uprights were adjacent to the street, and rested upon two cement blocks which extended above the curbing approximately six inches, and said blocks were approximately 18 inches in each direction. The vehicle stopped approximately between the two blocks. At the time of the trial, said blocks had been removed by the defendant Lamar Bybee. In relation to the curb there was the customary four to six-inch lip on the curb, and the blocks were against this cement lip of the curb, and north thereof, toward the building. There had also been a water pipe that came up immediately adjacent to the east side of the east block in approximately the center thereof, and after purchasing said building, the defendant LaMar Bybee, and Odell Watson, now deceased, removed the canopy for their purposes and left the blocks. The water pipe was cut off approximately the height of the blocks, or slightly lower. On the 16th of September, 1963, at the time of the injury, these blocks and water pipe were in this condition and had been there for several years.

The plaintiff left the automobile by the right front door, turned and shut the door, and stepped toward the bank in a diagonal direction, and stumbled and fell, and became unconscious, and the injuries resulted. After the accident, plaintiff determined she had fallen over the east of said blocks, or the water pipe in connection therewith, and did not at the time of the accident have any idea what she had fallen over. Permanent injuries and damage have resulted and there are considerable doctor bills and loss of wages, in addition to pain and suffering. Within thirty days of this accident, a damage claim was duly submitted to Kanab City in accordance with Title 10-7-77, Utah Code Annotated 1953, same being dated 3 October, 1963. In addition attempts were made to serve same on Mr. Bybee, and eventually he was served, although not within any 30-day period. On October 22, 1963, a special meeting of Kanab City Council was held, at which the notice that was later served upon the plaintiff, stated that notice was given and that a quorum was present. The notice dated 24 October, 1963, stated that at said meeting the claim of Margaret McAllister date October 3, 1963, was rejected on the grounds that Kanab City was not negligent; that any injuries that were received by the plaintiff were the sole and exclusive result of the negligence of the plaintiff and that without admitting negligence on the part of Kanab City, if any such negligence could be found, the contributory negligence of the plaintiff precluded her recovery.

ARGUMENT

Point 1

EACH OF THE DEFENDANTS OWED A DUTY TO MAKE PREMISES SAFE TO PLAINTIFF AND OTHER PEOPLE CROSSING SAID AREA.

It goes without saying that Kanab City owes a duty to all people to keep its streets and sidewalks free from unsafe, dangerous, defective and obstructive conditions. Authority for this statement starts with Utah Code Annotated 1953 in Section 10-8-8, giving the city authority to lay out, establish, open, alter, widen, narrow, extend, grade, pave, or otherwise improve streets, alleys, avenues, boulevards, sidewalks, parks, airports, public grounds, and may vacate the same or any parts by ordi-

nance, and is extended in Section 10-8-11, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, pertaining to streets, encroachments, lighting, sprinkling and cleaning:

"They may regulate the use of streets, alleys, avenues, sidewalks, crosswalks, parks, and public grounds prevent and remove obstructions and encroachments thereon, provide for the lighting, sprinkling and cleaning of same."

This is a question of a duty of a city to its citizens or any other persons to make the streets safe and remove obstructions. There is a long history of cases and judgments against cities in the state of Utah. There is a comprehensive discussion of liability of a city to remove obstructions and to keep its streets free from unsafe, dangerous, defective or obstructive conditions, in the case of *Niblick vs. Salt Lake City*, 111 P. 2d 800, 100 Utah 573. While this particular case held that the statute did not pertain to negligence of its employees in driving vehicles and items of that nature, there is a tremendous amount of authority quoted pertaining to obstructions and negligence in keeping this condition from coming into existence. This case cites the two statutes cited above, and in addition the statute requiring a claim to be presented, as being the basis of cities' liability in cases of this nature. In this case, the case of *Alder vs. Salt Lake City* is cited, 231 P. 1103, 64 Utah 568.

"There is a well-recognized exception to the general rule of immunity in cases involving the maintenance of care of public streets, and it is generally held that municipalities are liable for negligence in failing to keep the avenues of public travel in safe condition and repair. It is argued that a similar exception should be made in the case of the maintenance of public parks, playgrounds, etc. The exception in the case of streets is founder upon public policy and expediency, and is recognized in this state by legislative act."

The case of *Niblock vs. Salt Lake City*, cited above, then goes on to a considerably comprehensive discussion by the Utah State Supreme Court setting forth the duties of a city in keeping its public ways clear, and cites a great many other cases as authority, including, but not limited to *Brown vs. Salt Lake City*, 33 Utah 222, 93 P. 570, *Morris vs. Salt Lake City*, 101 P. 373, 35 Utah 474, and no end of cases from other jurisdictions.

Next comes the question as to whether or not the

duty of a city to keep a street free from obstructions extends to the area between the curb and the sidewalk, which is often referred to as the parking, in which the cement blocks and the pipe referred to above were located. The inclusion of this area has been very definitely defined as part of the city's liability in the case of *Hunt vs. Tooele City*, 334 P. 2d 555, 8 Utah 2d 323. In this instance, a judgment for damages was sustained by the Utah State Supreme Court against Tooele City for injuries received in stumbling on a slight break in a curbing, where there was an unusual defect and rise between the curbing and the parking area. In this particular case, as to the liability of the city for negligence of leaving an item of this nature, Utah State Supreme Court quotes Section 10-7-77, Utah Code Annotated 1953, which has been cited above, and in addition quotes the *Niblick vs. Salt Lake City* cited above; also the case of *Salt Lake City vs. Schubach*, 159 P. 2d, 149, 108 Utah 266, and in quoting the case of *Bills vs. Salt Lake City*, 109, P. 745, 37 Utah 507, makes the following statement:

"A person using a public street has no reason to apprehend danger, and is not required to be vigilant, to discover dangerous obstructions, but he may walk or drive in the daytime or nighttime, relying on the assumption that the corporation whose duty it is to keep the streets in a safe condition for travel have performed that duty, and that he is exposed to no danger from its neglect."

And in relation to a contributory negligence question arises makes the following statement:

"What is meant is that he needs exercise ordinary care only to detect and avoid obstructions or defects that are obvious, and that may and ought to be detected, and hence avoided by the exercise of ordinary care"

Consideration of the *Hunt Vs. Tooele City* case very definitely should deter one from any thought that the parking is not included in the streets, and that the duty of the city does not cover the parking as well as the sidewalk and the street proper.

Pertaining to the landowner and the tenants, there is no question as to their liability for maintaining a hazard of this nature. In the first place, this hazard was created by the affirmative act of the landowner, as set forth in the testimony of Mr. Bybee, beginning on Page

143 of the transcript on Line 19, and running to Page 146, Line 18. This testimony through this portion shows that at the time the alterations were made and the canopy was taken down, Bybee and Watson owned the building and California-Pacific Utilities Company was in possession of it, under a 10-year lease from 1959 to 1969, the lease having been entered in evidence as exhibit 7, and the taking it down was paid for by Watson and Bybee, was requested by the City and the State Road Commission in making street alterations, and that the premises were under a lease requiring the tenant to take care of the area. When a trap of this nature was created at that time under a lease agreement in existence at that point, there is no question that all three defendants were participants in and parties to creating the trap that caused the damage to the plaintiff. In addition, the Revised Ordinances of the City of Kanab, 1959, adopted by the City Council of Kanab, Utah, on the 8th day of September, 1959, which were in effect in 1963 at the time of the injury, contains the following paragraph:

"18-1. Obstruction of Sidewalks. It shall be unlawful for any person owning, occupying or having control of any premises, to place, or permit to be placed, upon the half of the sidewalk of the half of the street next to such premises:

"1. Any broken ware, glass, filth, rubbish, refuse matters, ice, water, mud, garbage, ashes, tin cans or other like substances.

"2. Any vehicle, lumber, wood, boxes, fencing building material, dead trees, tree stumps, merchandise or other thing which shall obstruct such public street or sidewalk or any part thereof, or the free use and enjoyment thereof, the free passage over and upon the same, or any part thereof, without the permission of the City Council."

Certainly the cement blocks come under the all-inclusive item, "or other thing". Certainly the duty is placed not only upon the property owner, but upon the occupant as well, or anyone else having control.

The State Supreme Court has taken the attitude in the past that after a city has been liable on an obstruction of this nature, under circumstances where a building is under control of an occupant or a tenant, the city may collect its damages from the person having control

of same, in the case of Salt Lake City vs. Schubach, 159 P. 2d 149, 108 Utah 266. This was a situation in which a person had been injured by catching a heel in a grating that was normally in the sidewalk for the purpose of covering a hole for putting merchandise into the basement of a building. The Schubach defendants were tenants of a portion of the building only, but apparently had control of this particular obstruction. The individual that was injured had collected from Salt Lake City. In this particular instance, the Supreme Court of Utah upheld a judgment against the tenant Schubach for maintaining this obstruction, with the statement that anyone who obstructs a sidewalk in such a manner that it is not for the benefit of the city or any other individual, must do so in such a manner that he incommodes the public as little as possible, with the further provision that he shall excavate and install such structures on the condition that he "shall use more than ordinary care." In addition, the court holds,

"This duty is a continuing one, appurtenant as it were to the land, and liability for failure in duty cannot be delegated, nor can it be terminated except by transfer of the land or surrender of the privilege of maintaining the structure."

In the case at hand, the lease transfers the duty of maintaining the structure, but certainly under this case of Salt Lake City vs. Schubach, it carries with it the additional duty of maintenance of the adjoining sidewalk and street premises. Also, in the case at hand, we have not only a question of negligence in maintaining the structure, but gross negligence in removing a portion of the structure and leaving an item that should have been removed at the time the structure was removed. In the Schubach case there is no end of authority holding similar conclusions. In the Schubach case, the city had paid a judgment to one Sabey, the person who had been injured, and the issue was whether or not it could be recovered from the owner of the abutting property or the tenant. The Supreme Court of the State of Utah allowed recovery from the tenant in this particular instance, intimating that it was based upon the exclusive use and control of the item that caused the damage, and indicating that had the use and control not been passed on in a manner by agreement and practice, the property owner would have been liable. However, the court also

made a finding that if the defects causing the injury existed at the time of making the lease, the owner does not thereby escape liability, but simply allowed the liability to be passed on through the owner to the tenant because of the nature of the use and control.

Many cases hold that violation of a law or ordinance is negligence in itself and there is no question that an ordinance of Kanab City was violated by all defendants except Kanab City and that Kanab City tolerated the violation. In *Skerl vs. Willow Creek Coal Co.*, 69 P.2d 502, 92 Utah 474, this was set out and has been amplified by many other cases. In the *Skerl vs. Willow Creek Coal Company* case there are quoted several other cases as follows: "When a standard of duty or care is fixed by law or ordinance, and such law or ordinance has reference to the safety of life, limb, or property, then, as a matter of necessity, a violation of such law or ordinance constitutes negligence."

In this Kanab case we have the ordinance and the violation and the condonation of the violation. Of course, the defendants will claim that the ordinance was not passed for the benefit of the plaintiff. However, this is not true. For what reason would such an ordinance be passed except to make the streets safe for everyone who used them, including the plaintiff?

Also, see the recent case of *Klafta vs. Smith*, 404 P.2d 659, 17 Utah 2d 65, in which a similar situation was ruled negligence as a matter of law and the only issue to be tried was damage and the action of the trial court in so ruling was upheld by the Utah Supreme Court.

Point II

EACH OF THE DEFENDANTS FAILED TO PERFORM SAID DUTY AND THIS WAS NEGLIGENCE ON THE PART OF EACH OF SAID DEFENDANTS.

It goes without saying that it is admitted by all parties that at the time of the accident, the blocks were still in the position that they had been in when Mr. Bybee had removed the canopy at the request of the City and the State Road. Also, plaintiff's exhibit No. 1, which shows as having been received in evidence on Page 14 of the transcript, was admitted without objection by any defendant, and was identified as a picture taken a few days after the 16th of September, 1963, and on Page 13, Line 12 of the transcript is identified as correctly repre-

senting the area that he was photographing at the time the picture was taken, and that it was taken shortly after the 16th of September, 1963, in front of the California-Pacific Utilities office. There is no question as to the representations of the photograph being correct. Under these conditions, there can be no argument as to the existence of the hazard at the time of the accident.

Point III

PLAINTIFF WAS INJURED AS A DIRECT AND PROXIMATE RESULT OF FAILURE OF DEFENDANTS TO PERFORM SAID DUTY.

There can be no question that the plaintiff was injured as a result of the fall in the area on the 16th day of September, 1963. By the time the claim was filed with Kanab City, which was 3 October, 1963, plaintiff had been back to the area and concluded that she had fallen over the cement block or the pipe, and the claim so states. There is also no question that at the time of the fall, plaintiff did not know what she fell over, but made a determination at a later date as to the cause of her fall, and as to leaving the car and closing the door, her testimony is to the effect that her back was turned, and that she turned and fell as she started toward the bank, which would have been in a diagonal direction from the car. In cross-examination, the plaintiff very definitely stated that she did not know what she fell over, and has never made any other statement at anytime, including depositions and any other item. Under these conditions, the claim to Kanab City, which was offered in evidence as an exhibit by the defendants and which was admitted in evidence by the plaintiff, regardless of the notes of the transcript, and which was received in evidence, one must conclude that she determined after the fall, the item that caused her to fall. After all, the lady was unconscious and was in the hospital for several days.

This raises the question as to whether or not a person can go back to a scene after several days and determine what he fell on, and then claim damages as a result of same when he did not know what he fell on at the time. The Supreme Court of the State of Utah has in several instances indicated not only that a person can go back and determine what he fell on, but that a reasonable assumption of what caused damage can be collected upon.

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