1967

Margaret Mcallister v. Lamar Bybee, Carvel
Mattsson, Administrator of the Estate of O'Dell
Watson, Deceased, California Pacific Utilities
Company, a Corporation, and Kanab City, Utah :
Brief of Defendant Respondent California Pacific
Utilities Company

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE RESPONDENT, CALIFORNIA-PACIFIC UTILITIES COMPANY, IS NOT LIABLE FOR CONDITIONS EXISTING ON A PUBLIC HIGHWAY WHICH IT DID NOT CREATE OR MAINTAIN FOR ITS OWN BENEFIT.

The duties imposed by law for the maintenance and care of the sidewalk also apply to the parking strip between the sidewalk and the curb; the parking strip is treated as part of the sidewalk for this purpose. *Woodson v. Metropolitan Street Railway Company*, 123 S.W. 820 (Mo. 1909). The primary duty of maintaining the sidewalk rests upon the City of Kanab. In *Salt Lake City v. Schubach*, 108 Utah 266, 159 P.2d 149, 151-152 (1945), this Court stated:

“That the city is charged with the duty of maintaining the sidewalks within its limits in a safe condition for use in the usual modes by pedestrians thereon is so well established as to need no citations of authority.”

The evidence in the instant case establishes that the concrete block and the small pipe which the appellant now believes might have caused her fall were located on public property located on the street side of the sidewalk and owned by Kanab City (Tr. 158-159, 160-161).

The liability for the condition of a public sidewalk is imposed upon a private person only when such person creates the danger. In *Basinger v. Standard Furniture Co.*, 118 Utah 121, 220 P.2d 117, 119 (1950), this Court held:

“There exists no obligation on the part of an abutter to keep the sidewalk adjoining his premises in repair, nor is he liable for any state of disrepair. His obligation can only arise where he creates through use or otherwise some unsafe or dangerous condition.”

The evidence here demonstrates the fact that the cement block and the pipe located on the parking strip where the appellant fell were not constructed by respondent Pacific but existed at the time of the lease. Moreover, the removal of the pillars and canopy which exposed the concrete block was undertaken solely by the respondents Bybee and Watson, at the insistence of Kanab City, without any participation by Pacific. The evidence establishing these facts is found in the testimony of respondent Bybee, who testified he and Watson acquired the large piece of property in 1955 and leased a portion of it, on which the Pacific office was located, in 1959. The canopy and pillars were in place at the time of the lease but they were not part of the leased property and when the city requested they be removed, the building owners complied, without notice to, consent by, or participating payment from, Pacific (Ex. 7, Tr. 143, 144, 161, 162).

This evidence establishes that respondent Pacific in no way created the alleged hazards, and thus, under the holding of the *Basinger* case cannot be held responsible for any injury caused by the presence of the objects on the parking strip.

In *Salt Lake City v. Schubach*, *supra*, the Court indicated another possible way that liability might shift from a city to a private person. Although such person may not have created the hazardous condition on a public sidewalk, he may still be subject to liability if he receives control of the hazard and maintains it for his benefit. The Court clearly defined the circumstances necessary for such a shift of liability. The *Schubach* case involved an action in indemnity by the city against the property owner and the tenant to recover the amount of a judgment rendered against the city in favor of the injured party. The Court held the property owner liable on the theory of implied contract; he was allowed to construct a sidewalk elevator, which added to the enjoyment of his land, in consideration for his implied promise that he would properly construct and maintain it.

Applying the *Schubach* rule to the facts of the present case, it is clear that the owner of the property, at the time the canopy was constructed and the cement foundations and pillars were installed on city property, undertook the duty of insuring they presented no unreasonable risk of harm to the public. The Court in the *Schubach* case then went on to define the conditions

under which this obligation could be transferred. "Only by conveying the land, or by leasing it in entirety, so that the lessee is then in the shoes of the owner, may he escape liability." (Page 157) From this, it is seen that, in this case, the obligation undertaken by the owner who constructed the canopy passed to the respondents LaMar Bybee and O'Dell Watson when they purchased the property. The obligation remained with them and existed at and after the time of the lease to Pacific in 1959.

The Court in the *Schubach* case then went on to define the circumstances under which such an obligation would pass to a lessee and a judgment in favor of the city and against the tenant was reversed because there was no showing that the tenant specifically undertook the obligation imposed on the owner who constructed the sidewalk elevator, nor was there implied acceptance of the obligation, since there was no showing that the tenant had control of the sidewalk elevator.

Applying the *Schubach* decision to the present case, it is clear that the tenant in the instant case, respondent Pacific, did not have, nor did it undertake, any obligation concerning such hazard as might exist by reason of the cement blocks or the pipe on the public parkway; it had no control over that ground or the objects imbedded in it, nor did it agree to undertake any obligation concerning them. In fact, the respondents Bybee and Watson specifically retained control and any obli-

gation arising therefrom. This is established by the testimony of Mr. Bybee and by the terms of the lease. The canopy and the land beneath it were not included in the lease; only the building, from the front wall where the canopy began, to the rear wall, was leased to Pacific. The lease excluded all surrounding property, as is shown by the following description of the leased premises:

“That certain building situated on the north side of Center Street in Kanab, Utah, on Lot 22 of Block 2, Kanab Townsite Survey, said building having a frontage of approximately 20 feet and a depth of approximately 30 feet. Together with the right to use the existing driveway on the west side of the building and with the right to the use of parking and unloading space of approximately 30 square feet to the rear of said building.” (Ex. 7)

In this regard, the lessor and respondent, LaMar Bybee, testified upon cross-examination as follows:

“Q. Mr. Bybee, the property that you are renting to California-Pacific is actually just a building itself, is it not?

A. That's right.

Q. All right. Now . . . the front and south part of the building that they rented stopped north of the main sidewalk line, isn't that true?

A. That's true, yes.

.

Q. And the area that we've been concerned with here, the blocks and the pipe you say that was adjacent to the blocks is south of there, of the property that California-Pacific rented; isn't that right — south by several feet?

A. South.

Q. Out towards the street in other words?

A. Yes.

Q. It's across the public sidewalk, south of your property line and on public property?

A. That's right.

Q. And when the city gave notice to you and the highway department to take out the canopy in the first place, you did that without requiring California-Pacific to do any part of it, isn't that true?

A. That's right.

Q. That was your affair, not theirs, isn't that true? Yours as distinguished from California-Pacific?

A. Yes.

Q. And they also had nothing to do with the concrete blocks? They didn't take those out, did they?

A. No.

Q. You never gave them any notice to do that, did you?

A. No, I did not (Tr. 160-162)."

The testimony of Mr. Bybee further established that he and Watson owned the land immediately west, north and east of the building leased to Pacific and that the building is therefore "on front center of a bigger rectangular piece" they owned (Tr. 162).

Pacific, as lessee, undertook no duty of maintaining the building. That obligation, by the terms of the lease, remained with Bybee and Watson, as is shown by the ninth clause of the lease:

"The lessors promise and agree to maintain said building and premises at a reasonably good state and condition at all times during the terms of this lease." (Ex. 7)

The actions of the respective parties subsequent to the lease illustrate their intent that Pacific should have absolutely no control over the canopy and the concrete blocks. The testimony from the record, as quoted above

from pages 160-162, establishes that the removal of the canopy and the later removal of the concrete blocks was accomplished without any consultation, notice or consent by Pacific.

This Court in the *Schubach* case further held that any obligation in regard to the sidewalk elevator arose as a *quid pro quo* of the benefit conferred upon the owner by its existence. There is no evidence in the instant case that the canopy or the pipe in any way benefitted Pacific or was used by it in its business operation.

The removal of the canopy and pillars exposed the cement blocks, which created a more dangerous condition than the pillars, since the blocks were not as easily observed. Further, the removal of the pillars made access to the pipe easier, and thus increased the likelihood of a pedestrian using the parking strip to trip over the pipe. The fact that the canopy and pillars were removed at the request of the city is a very significant fact.

In *Otten v. Big Lake Ice Company*, 270 N.W. 133 (Minn. 1936), an ice company was engaged in hauling ice across the highway to various delivery points in the area. The county desired to make the highway safer, and paid the defendant ice company to construct a tunnel under the highway to use in hauling its ice. The plaintiff, while walking along the highway, fell into the excavation which comprised part of the completed tunnel.

The court held that the ice company was not liable for the dangerous condition created by the tunnel because it was the county's project and they alone were liable for the safety of the highways.

In *Black vs. Southern Pacific Company*, 12 P.2d 981 (Calif. 1932), a city widened the street, but the railroad company failed to widen, to the same extent, the space between its signal devices at a railroad crossing located on the street. The plaintiff collided with a signal device while traveling along the widened portion of the street. The court held the railroad company was not liable for the injury since the condition was created by a project of the city, even though the injury involved a device belonging to the railroad. The court stated:

“And while in the present case the condition in which the street was left after the improvements were made was likely to mislead travelers as to the width of the crossing, this condition was not created by the railroad company or upon its property, and it was under no duty to warn of the danger of deviating from the established crossing; nor as between the company and the plaintiffs was there any duty to fence its right of way along the newly paved portion of the highway.”
(Page 986)

In the present case, any danger that was created was incident to a city project, was created at the request of the city, existed on property owned by the city, and thus was the city's responsibility. It most certainly was

not the responsibility of respondent Pacific, which was merely a tenant of a building on the other side of the public sidewalk.

Appellant cites Kanab City Revised Ordinances, Sec. 18-1, in an attempt to persuade this Court to use it as a measure of the respondents' conduct. There are several reasons why the ordinance is inapplicable to respondent Pacific.

First, the ordinance, by its terms, applies only to one who places or permits the placement of the items mentioned. The testimony previously quoted establishes that Pacific did not place the pipe or cement blocks on the parking, nor did it have control of the canopy so as to permit their placement or removal.

Secondly, the ordinance applies only when the items are placed on the sidewalk without the permission of the city. The above-quoted testimony establishes that the exposure of the cement blocks was not only permitted, but requested by the city.

Thirdly, it is usually held that such ordinances are not to be used as a standard of care. *Daly v. Matthews*, 122 P.2d 81 (Calif. 1942); *W. T. Grant Co. v. Casady*, 188 P.2d 881 (Colo. 1948); *King v. J. E. Grosbie*, 131 P.2d 105 (Okla. 1942).

POINT II.

THE FINDINGS OF FACT WHICH ARE ESSENTIAL TO THE APPELLANT'S RECOVERY MUST BE BASED UPON SPECULATION AND CONJECTURE.

The facts necessary to the appellant's recovery are not supported by solid evidence, but only upon speculation and conjecture. She does not know how far she had walked when she fell; she may not have even been in the vicinity of the block or the pipe. She does not know what she fell over, whether it was a rock, a rut or incline, a cement block, or the pipe or a combination of these.

In addition to her testimony, quoted earlier in this brief in the Statement of Facts, there are numerous instances in the record indicating the uncertain and speculative nature of appellant's evidence. For example, she was shown a photograph of the area, Exhibit A, and was then asked:

"Q. And I presume you do not know where you fell?

A. No, I don't." (Tr. 43)

Although she had been uncertain of it upon deposition, appellant concluded at the trial that she had safely negotiated the curb, but she did not know what happened from that point, saying:

“... I stepped out onto the curb and then I stumbled over something, but I don't know what thing” (Tr. 44).

She could not state at what point she stumbled after closing the car door:

“Q. But from there on out you don't know whether you took one step, or five steps from the car, or however many in between; isn't that true?

A. Right.

Q. And you don't know whether it was your left foot or your right foot or whatever it was you did; isn't that true?

A. Yes.” (Tr. 57)

The possible alternative causes of the appellant's fall have varying legal effects. If she tripped over a rock, there is no liability on the part of any of the respondents, *O'Keefe v. Berry Co.*, 42 N.E. 2d 267 (Mass. 1942); if she tripped over a rise or rut in the parking strip, then the only possible liability would be upon the city, *Basinger v. Standard Furniture Co.*, *supra*.

Moreover, the placement of liability would vary, depending on whether the appellant tripped over the cement blocks or the pipe, since the pipe in no way bene-

fited the property to give rise to an obligation on the part of the owner in favor of the city, under the ruling in the *Schubach* case, whereas there may have been such a benefit in regard to the canopy. However, in neither event would there be responsibility upon Pacific, the tenant here.

As a further indication of the speculative nature of appellant's proof as against this respondent, there is some question as to whether the pipe (if that was what, in fact, appellant stumbled over) was even located on the land abutting the front of the building Pacific had leased. There is testimony indicating it was east of an extension of the east wall of the building and, if so, it would have been on land abutting the vacant lot owned by respondents Bybee and Watson (Tr. 146).

This Court has held that in cases where there are alternative theories of what caused an accident, and no rational basis upon which to choose between them, so that liability varies depending on the alternatives, recovery must be denied. In the case of *Tremelling v. Southern Pacific Co.*, 51 U. 189, 170 P. 80 (1917), appeal after remand, 70 U. 72, 257 P. 1066 (1927), the plaintiff's intestate was riding on a train as a brakeman, and was later found dead, lying next to a car on an adjacent track. His death had been caused by a severe skull fracture. The plaintiff alleged that the skull fracture was caused by the deceased striking his head against

a steel car on the adjacent track, and that the car had been negligently left in that position by the defendant. The defendant contended that the plaintiff's allegation was based on pure conjecture, that it was possible that the deceased's skull had been fractured by his falling and striking the frozen ground. This Court held that the plaintiff must fail since there was no rational basis upon which the jury could choose between the two alternatives. It said:

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